FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
8/30/2021 4:25 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/31/2021
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>100</u>149-5 (COA No. 80947-4-I)

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JORGE NAVA MARTINEZ,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

###

#### A. INTRODUCTION

To shift blame and avoid lengthy prison sentences for murder, two white men insisted Jorge Nava Martinez and his brother shot Tye Burley and they received lenient plea deals in exchange for their testimony. The allegations at Mr. Martinez's trial rested on these self-interested witnesses' claims, but the jury also heard Mr. Martinez had been in prison and jail before, he had access to a stolen gun even though it was unlikely the murder weapon, and an unnamed person threatened and beat up the State's main witness when pressing him to recant.

Due to common racial and ethnic biases, jurors are more likely to suspect people of color of engage in criminal acts. When the jurors learned Mr. Martinez was jailed in the past and were given reason to believe he encouraged violence and used a stolen gun, this evidence would re-enforce their racial stereotypes. The Court of Appeals simplistically deemed this evidence harmless. This Court should grant review due to the particular importance of ensuring courts seriously weigh the risk jurors use improperly admitted criminal propensity evidence to infer guilt when the evidence reinforces stereotypes about a person of color.

#### B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Jorge Martinez, petitioner here and appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the decision by the Court of Appeals dated June 14, 2021, for which reconsideration was denied and the opinion amended on July 30, 2021, pursuant to RAP 13.3(a)(2)(b) and RAP 13.4(b). Copies are attached as Appendix A and B.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. In any criminal case, the court must exclude evidence jurors will to use to infer the accused is the type of person to commit the crime charged. In violation of a pretrial ruling, the jury heard Mr. Martinez was in prison and jail in the past.

  Jurors also heard Mr. Martinez could have stolen a gun and used it to shoot a stranger, even though this gun was not the murder weapon. In a close case that rests on accusations by self-interested participants with dubious credibility, is evidence the accused person committed other crimes likely to affect the jury?
- 2. Racial bias is an on-going societal problem that causes disproportionate outcomes in the criminal legal system. In a case resting on the credibility of two white men who accused Mr.

Martinez and his brother of committing a crime to escape their own criminal prosecutions, the jury would likely be affected by evidence perpetuating the stereotypes of Hispanic men as more likely to commit a violent crime. When assessing the prejudice resulting from evidence of unrelated criminal acts, is it untenable for the Court of Appeals to ignore the likelihood this evidence triggers biased preconceptions that affect the jurors?

3. It is well-established that accusing a person of stealing and using a gun is highly prejudicial and inadmissible when not probative of the charged crime. The Court of Appeals misunderstood the record, and insisted the stolen gun was relevant because it was connected to the shooting. On reconsideration, the Court of Appeals slightly modified its opinion to say the stolen gun was not the same type as used in the incident, but it did not reassess the relevance or prejudicial effect of this gun evidence. Without proof Mr. Martinez stole or used this stolen gun, did the Court of Appeals misapply the law when it ruled the jury was allowed to speculate Mr. Martinez used this gun to commit the charged crime?

4. An accused person may be denied his right to a fair trial as guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment when the cumulative effect of numerous errors likely affected the jury's verdict. During Mr. Martinez's trial, the jury heard a host of inadmissible and unfairly prejudicial information, including that he had been in jail and prison before, claims that he sent people to threaten and beat up the prosecution's main witness, and allegations he stole a gun from his brother's spouse. Did these errors, taken together, affect the jury's verdict and deny Mr. Martinez his right to a fair trial?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

After Tye Burley won thousands of dollars from a casino, he told his regular drug dealer, Jeremy Dailey about it. 12/17RP 345-463; 12/18RP 585. Mr. Dailey began planning to steal Mr. Burley's winnings. 12/17RP 356; 12/20RP 1064.

Mr. Dailey told his good friend Jared Evans about Mr. Burley's cash and discussed stealing it. 12/17RP 362; 12/18RP 641, 503, 528. Mr. Dailey and Mr. Evans both had strong drug

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 1}$  The verbatim report of proceedings (RP) are referred to by the month and day of the proceeding. All hearings occurred in 2019 unless otherwise noted.

addictions, were unemployed, and slept in cars. 12/18RP 473, 508, 530, 538, 556, 629, 632-34, 638.

Jorge Martinez also bought drugs from Mr. Dailey on occasion, and Mr. Dailey told him about his plans to steal Mr. Burley's money. 12/17RP 362, 392; 12/18RP 489. According to Mr. Martinez, he and his brother, Jose Nava, wanted to buy drugs from Mr. Dailey, not steal Mr. Burley's money. 12/20RP 1062, 1065; 12/23RP 1106.

Later that day, Mr. Martinez and his brother bought heroin and smoked it with Mr. Dailey. 12/20RP 1166. Mr. Dailey tried to get Mr. Martinez and Mr. Nava to rob Mr. Burley when he left a tattoo shop, but they did not do so. 12/17RP 400, 404.

When Mr. Burley and his girlfriend Kristen Schramm were walking to his hotel, two men approached them in the dark. 12/12RP 669. Ms. Schramm thought one of the men might be Mr. Dailey. 12/12RP 685. When Ms. Schramm saw one man was holding a gun, she screamed and ran. 12/11RP 602; 12/12RP 671, 676-78. People nearby heard one gunshot. 12/11RP 597; 12/12RP 782. The bullet hit Mr. Burley in the head and he died. 12/19RP 805, 834-35.

Although there were other people in the area, no one but Ms. Schramm described a possible perpetrator. 12/11RP 600; 12/12RP 683, 722-23. Ms. Schram said the perpetrator was white, like Mr. Dailey or Mr. Evans. 12/12RP 722-23. Another bystander who saw two men nearby also described two white or Caucasian men. 12/12RP 826. Video surveillance cameras captured some action from a distance but offered "shadows," not a clear view of the people involved. 12/23RP 1220-21; Exs. 291 & 305 (showing views from camera 17 at 19:01:02 - 19:02:20).

The video shows one person running away from the incident who stumbles and falls in the middle of the street. Ex. 291 (19:02:18). Several hours after this incident, Mr. Evans was caught stealing a knee brace from Walmart. 12/19RP 751.

After Ms. Schramm told the police she suspected Mr. Dailey was involved, the police arrested him on an unrelated warrant. 12/12RP 749; 12/16RP 111, 126. Mr. Dailey admitted he and Mr. Evans were present for the shooting but said Mr. Martinez and his brother did it. 12/16RP 113.

On the night of the shooting, Mr. Evans told his friend Chris that Mr. Dailey had robbed Mr. Burley that night. 12/19RP 761. Mr. Evans and Mr. Dailey received plea bargains to lesser offenses in exchange for testifying against Mr. Martinez and Mr. Nava. 12/17RP 343; 12/18RP 630.

Mr. Dailey testified he and Mr. Evans were sitting in Mr. Nava's car while Mr. Martinez and Mr. Nava left the car to rob Mr. Burley. 12/17RP 410. He said he had no idea any one had a gun. 12/17RP 408, 411. Mr. Evans offered a similar version of events. 12/19RP 707-11.

Mr. Martinez also testified. He described meeting with Mr. Dailey to buy drugs. 12/20RP 1061, 1063, 1067. While in the car with Mr. Dailey, they smoked a substantial amount of drugs and he passed out. 12/20RP 1068, 1071-72. Mr. Evans' tool, with his initials etched in it, was found in the driver's seat of the car the men used in the incident, which was consistent with Mr. Martinez's testimony that he went to the back seat and Mr. Evans got into the driver's seat during the incident. 12/19RP 754, 786; 12/23RP 1109; Ex. 301.

When Mr. Martinez realized Mr. Burley had been shot, they drove away, he dropped off Mr. Dailey and Mr. Evans and fled. 12/20RP 1072-74.

Tiffany Beston lived with Mr. Nava at the time of the incident. 12/19RP 842. She owned a gun that she later realized was missing from the safe where she stored it. 12/19RP 846. The only description she had of her gun was that it was "small, black" and "may have had silver on it." 12/19 846.

A forensic scientist from the Washington State Patrol Lab analyzed the bullet that shot Mr. Burley and extensively searched databases to determine whether a Beretta Pico .380, like Ms. Beston's could have fired this bullet. 12/20RP 952, 980; CP 211. The expert found no evidence this was the type of firearm used against Mr. Burley. 12/20RP 952.

While Ms. Beston said her gun was small, Ms. Schramm described the gun she saw as having a "pretty long barrel." 12/12RP 711. Mr. Martinez objected to the admission of evidence about Ms. Beston's gun based on the absence of proof it was used in the incident. CP 111-15; 12/20RP 980. The court overruled this objection. 12/20RP 984. The prosecution argued Mr. Martinez must have taken and used Ms. Beston's gun. 12/23RP 1159-60, 1238.

The facts are further explained in Appellant's Opening Brief, in the relevant factual and argument sections, and are incorporated herein.

#### E. ARGUMENT

This Court should grant review to address the necessity of meaningfully weighing the prejudicial effect of evidence painting the accused person as predisposed to violence and criminal acts, including it likelihood it triggers racially biased decision-making

1. It is unduly prejudicial for the jury to learn the defendant has been in prison and jail on different occasions in the past.

Despite the court's clear pretrial ruling barring the prosecution from introducing evidence Mr. Martinez had been in jail in the past, and that he met Jeremy Dailey in prison, the prosecution's witnesses testified Mr. Martinez met Mr. Dailey in prison, at a time when Mr. Dailey was serving sentences for two robberies, and that Mr. Martinez had also been jailed in California. 12/10RP 171; 12/17RP 381.

A "violation of a pretrial order is a serious irregularity." State v. Gamble, 168 Wn.2d 161, 178, 225 P.3d 973 (2010). It is also "extremely serious" to present the jury with information about the accused person's prior misconduct, even when the court strikes this evidence and tells the jury to disregard it, as occurred in *State v. Escalona*, 49 Wn. App. 251, 255, 742 P.2d 190 (1987). This evidence is "inherently prejudicial." *Id.* at 256. Even though it is legally irrelevant, it is the type of information jurors find "logically relevant." *Id.* 

An accused person's right to a fair trial is a fundamental part of due process of law. *United States v. Salerno*, 481 U.S. 739, 750, 107 S. Ct. 2095, 95 L. Ed. 2d 697 (1987); U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 3, 22. Erroneous evidentiary rulings violate due process when they deprive a person of a fundamentally fair trial. *Estelle v. McGuire*, 502 U.S. 62, 75, 112 S. Ct. 475, 116 L. Ed. 2d 385 (1991); *Dowling v. United States*, 493 U.S. 342, 352, 110 S. Ct. 668, 107 L. Ed. 2d 708 (1990).

Learning that Mr. Martinez befriended Mr. Dailey while both men were in prison would be "would be extremely difficult, if not impossible" for the jury to ignore, especially in a close case. *Escalona*, 49 Wn. App. at 256. While the jury did not hear the reason Mr. Martinez was in prison, they heard Mr. Dailey was in prison for a robbery, and in the case at bar, Mr. Dailey

admitted he arranged to rob Mr. Burley when the shooting occurred. The very next witness after Mr. Dailey was a police officer who testified Mr. Martinez had also been in jail in California.12/18RP 605-06; 12/19RP 691-92.

Because the prosecution's witnesses did not adhere to the pretrial rulings, the defense was forced to object and call "further attention to the improper testimony." *State v. Taylor*, \_ Wn. App. 2d \_, 490 P.3d 263, 270 (2021). The need to object "inherently establishes more prejudice." *Id.* Instructing the jury to disregard testimony "highlights the prejudice created" by this impermissible testimony. *Id.* The prosecution did not ensure its witnesses did not offer information about Mr. Martinez's criminal past.

The trial court expressed grave concern about Mr.

Dailey's testimony he met Mr. Martinez in prison, because Mr.

Dailey was the State's key witness and it is "not so easy" for jurors to disregard evidence despite an instruction telling them to do so. 12/18RP 435. The court feared this evidence "might influence their decision," regardless of its instruction to disregard. *Id.* But it denied Mr. Martinez's motion for a mistrial

and did not factor other evidentiary errors into this analysis. This evidence, combined with the improperly elicited evidence explained below, likely affected the jury but the Court of Appeals inexplicably minimized the testimony, despite its obligation to assess the cumulative effect of evidence on jurors. State v. Coe, 101 Wn.2d 772, 789, 684 P.2d 668 (1984); see Thomas v. French, 99 Wn.2d 95, 105, 659 P.2d 1097 (1983) (when improperly admitted evidence "may well have prejudiced the jury's assessment" of the evidence, reversal is required); U.S. Const. amend. XIV.

2. Accusations the defendant possessed a gun with no proven connection to the crime is significantly prejudicial.

Weapons that have "nothing to do with the crime charged" are unfairly prejudicial and should not be admitted. State v. Freeburg, 105 Wn. App. 492, 501 n.22, 20 P.3d 984 (2001). Here, the prosecution conceded on appeal there was no evidence Tiffany Beston's gun was stolen by Mr. Martinez or that it was used to shoot Mr. Burley. Resp. Brief at 25. The State's forensic expert testified it was unlikely this gun was used to kill Mr. Burley. Id.; 12/20RP 952 ("I think it's highly—

it's not probable" that the Baretta was used because its dimensions "were not consistent" with the bullet recovered).

The .38 caliber bullet that struck Mr. Burley was not the type of bullet Ms. Beston's .380 caliber gun would have fired.

But the trial prosecutor emphasized Mr. Martinez's access to this gun and urged the jury to speculate that it was the murder weapon. *See* 12/23RP 1153, 1232 (arguing "they had access to a gun. Tiffany's gun" and "Tiffany's got a gun. . . . It can't be eliminated as the gun" used). In its opening statement, the prosecution called Ms. Beston's gun the "[n]umber one" thing showing Mr. Martinez and Mr. Nava's culpability. 12/11RP 514.

It is impermissible for the prosecution to encourage the jury to treat the murder weapon as Ms. Beston's gun when its own expert said was highly unlikely to have been used in the incident. Inferences based on sheer speculation and inconsistent the evidence are not a basis to admit highly prejudicial evidence. See State v. Huson, 73 Wn.2d 660, 663, 440 P.2d 192 (1968) ("duty of prosecutors . . . is to seek convictions based only on probative evidence and sound reason").

The Court of Appeals illogically ruled the jury was free to disregard this evidence, despite acknowledging the unfairly prejudicial effect on jurors of hearing Mr. Martinez had access to a gun if it was not related to the crime charged. Slip op. 12, 14. Contrary to the Court of Appeals decision, there was no "competing evidence" that the shooter used Ms. Beston's gun. Her gun was a different caliber and did not use the same bullets as used to shoot Mr. Burley. Jurors would have been prejudicially affected by Mr. Martinez access to any gun, especially one that was unlikely to have been the murder weapon, yet the Court of Appeals refused to acknowledge this despite its obligation to do so. *Thomas*, 99 Wn.2d at 105.

3. The jury heard other improper evidence and argument.

The prosecution also improperly vouched for the truthfulness of its self-interested witnesses, Mr. Dailey and Mr. Evans, by inserting it would monitor their truthfulness through their plea agreements, contrary to *State v. Ish*, 170 Wn.2d 189, 198-99, 241 P.3d 389 (2010), 12/17RP 343; 12/18RP 630.

The prosecution urged the jury to use Jose Nava's statements to the police against Mr. Martinez, even though Mr. Nava did not testify, which made his statements inadmissible against Mr. Martinez under the Confrontation Clause.

Richardson v. Marsh, 481 U.S. 200, 211, 107 S. Ct. 1702, 95 L.

Ed. 2d 176 (1987); U.S. Const. amend. VI; 12/23RP 1157-60; Ex. 320 (slides 27, 28).

In addition, the prosecution offered evidence, over objection, that someone threatened Mr. Dailey and told him to retract his allegations, and he was beaten up a few times because of it. 12/18RP 483-87. But there was no evidence Mr. Martinez was responsible for this threat or the beating, making this evidence inadmissible and unduly prejudicial, as explained in *State v. Bourgeois*, 133 Wn.2d 389, 400, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997). Jurors will likely infer that a threat against a witness is evidence of the defendant's guilt, but this inference is improper when the defendant is not the person who made the threat. *Id*.

During voir dire, the prosecution repeatedly pressed jurors about finding a person guilty based on accomplice liability and did so while misrepresenting the law of accomplice

liability. 12/10RP 347-51. Mr. Martinez repeatedly objected but the court overruled his objections. 12/10RP 349-51. These errors further contribute to the likelihood jurors relied on testimony that should not have been admitted to deem Mr. Martinez guilty.

4. There is an unacceptable risk the unduly prejudicial evidence led jurors to rely on implicit racial bias.

A reviewing court's "analysis of 'prejudicial impact' does not rely on a review of sufficiency of the evidence." State v. Walker, 182 Wn.2d 463, 479, 341 P.3d 976 (2015); U.S. Const. amend. XIV. On the contrary, the court must assess the possible effect on the jury. Id. Yet it is difficult for reviewing courts to "speculate upon what evidence appealed to a jury." State v. Robinson, 24 Wn.2d 909, 917, 167 P.2d 986 (1946). While jurors are representatives of the community, each "influenced differently by evidence and argument," appellate judges view the case from "an ivory tower," which may skew their analysis. State v. King, 199 Wn. App. 1052, 2017 WL 2955540, \*7 (2017) (Fearing, J. dissenting) (unpublished, cited pursuant to GR 14.1). However, turning a blind eye to the role racial bias plays

in a jury's assessment of the evidence against a person of color is incorrect and harmful.

Jurors are also lay people who hold common implicit biases. *Walker*, 182 Wn.2d at 478 n.4 (explaining prevalence of implicit racial bias); *see also State v. Berhe*, 193 Wn.2d 647, 657, 444 P.3d 1172 (2019) ("implicit racial bias exists at the unconscious level, where it can influence our decisions without our awareness"). Mr. Martinez is a Hispanic man, with a neck tattoo that one potential juror admitted made it too difficult to serve without bias against him. 12/11RP 467.

It is now well understood by our courts that "racial and ethnic bias distorts decision-making in the criminal justice system." Task Force, *Preliminary Report on Race and Washington's Criminal Justice System*, 35 SEATTLE U. L. REV. 623, 639 (2012). Studies document the implicit, subconscious bias jurors have about the criminal propensity of Hispanic men.<sup>2</sup>

White Americans significantly overestimate the amount

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See The Sentencing Project, Race and Punishment: Racial Perceptions and Crime and Support for Punitive Penalties, 13-14 (2014), https://www.sentencingproject.org/publications/race-and-punishment-racial-perceptions-of-crime-and-support-for-punitive-policies/.

of crime committed by Blacks and Latinos. *Id.* at 13. Jurors are more likely to view ambiguous evidence as indication of guilt for darker skinned suspects than for lighter skinned people. *Id.* (citing Levinson & Young, *Different Shades of Bias: Skin Tone, Implicit Racial Bias, and Judgments of Ambiguous Evidence,* 112 W. Va. L. Rev. 307, 330-31, 338-39 (2010)).

Deeply entrenched cultural bias must be considered when assessing the prejudicial effect on the jury hearing of Mr.

Martinez's history of incarceration. This testimony would likely cement jurors' subconscious biases about his criminal propensity and make it more likely they view him as the person who shot and killed Mr. Burley, instead of Mr. Dailey and Mr. Evans.

Indeed, testimony about an accused person's criminal history is more likely to arise when the defendant is a person of color, because the incarceration rates "disproportionately impact[s] communities of color." L. Moy, *A Taxonomy of Police Technology's Racial Inequity Problems*, 2021 U. Ill. L. Rev. 139, 147 (2021) (noting study showing "although only 32% of the U.S. population is either black or Hispanic, in 2015, 56% of all incarcerated people were black or Hispanic.").

Here, the prosecution's case relied on the self-interested allegations of two white men who received generous grants of immunity. In any close case, it is hard for the jury to ignore testimony about an accused person's history of incarceration or the claim he stole someone's gun and used it, even though there is weak evidence of the relationship *Escalona*, 49 Wn. App. at 256. Judges must recognize the role that implicit biases play in how jurors are affected by testimony indicating the accused person committed uncharged criminal acts. *See* Letter from the Wash. State Supreme Court to Members of Judiciary & Legal Cmty. (June 4, 2020) (acknowledging courts must take active efforts to address and eradicate racism in the legal system).<sup>3</sup>

The Court of Appeals' superficial analysis of prejudice did not account for the likelihood that testimony Mr. Martinez committed other crimes triggered implicit biases and led jurors to assume he acted consistently with invidious but stereotypical behavior common to his race and ethnicity. This Court should grant review due to the numerous errors that occurred, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Available at:

 $http://www.courts.wa.gov/content/publicUpload/Supreme \% 20 Court \% 2\\0 News/Judiciary \% 20 Legal \% 20 Community \% 20 SIGNED \% 20060420.pd$ 

likelihood the jury was affected improperly elicited evidence tending to show Mr. Martinez's criminal propensity, and the necessity of ensuring courts weigh the prejudicial effect of testimony that triggers stereotypical bias against people of color.

#### F. CONCLUSION

Petitioner Jorge Martinez respectfully requests that review be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).