FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/28/2021 9:06 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 100149-5

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

JORGE NAVA MARTINEZ JR.,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ADAM CORNELL Prosecuting Attorney

SETH A FINE
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The State of Washington asks that review be denied.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts are correctly set out in the Court of Appeals opinion, as amended by the order denying reconsideration. App. B at 2-5; App. A at 1-2 (attached to Petition for Review).

III. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The standards for granting petitions for review are set out in RAP 13.4(b)(1) through (4). The petition in this case fails to identity any of these standards as warranting review. Instead, the petition raises an assortment of evidentiary issues. Each of these is governed by established law. The application of that law to the facts of this case does not warrant review.

A. THERE IS NO BASIS FOR REVIEWING THE TRIAL COURT'S EXERCISE OF DISCRETION IN DETERMINING THAT A MISTRIAL WAS NOT REQUIRED BECAUSE OF A REFERENCE TO THE DEFENDANT'S CRIMINAL RECORD.

The defendant first claims that a mistrial should have been granted when the jury heard testimony that he had been in jail or prison. The Court of Appeals correctly analyzed this irregularity under the test set out in <u>State v. Weber</u>, 99 Wn.2d 158, 165-66, 659 P.2d 1102 (1983). A trial court's decision to deny a mistrial is reviewed for abuse of discretion. It will be overturned only when there is a substantial likelihood that the error affected the jury's verdict. <u>State v. Rodriguez</u>, 146 Wn.2d 260, 269, 45 P.3d 541 (2002).

The defendant's analysis of this issue overlooks an important fact. The defendant himself testified that he had been using drugs for five or seven years. 12/20 RP 1058. If the jurors were inclined to violate their instructions by speculating about what crime put the defendant in prison, they would most likely assume that it was a drug crime.

They heard nothing to suggest that it was anything else.

The testimony about the defendant's incarceration told the jurors very little that they did not already know.

The defendant cites <u>State v. Escalona</u>, 49 Wn. App. 251, 742 P.2d 190 (1987). In that case, the defendant was charged with assaulting someone with a knife. A witness testified that the defendant "already had a record and had stabbed someone." The Court of Appeals held that this required a mistrial. This was because the jury was likely to conclude that the defendant acted "in conformity with the assaultive character he demonstrated in the past." <u>Id.</u> at 256. The court did *not* say that every reference to the defendant's prior criminal history requires a mistrial. Rather, a mistrial was required because of the strong similarity between the prior crime and the charged offense. In the present case, that similarity did not exist.

The defendant also seeks to compare this case to State v. Taylor, ___ Wn. App. 2d ___, 490 P.3d 263 (2021). There, the error occurred because the prosecutor had not advised an expert witness of the court's rulings in limine. This put the defense in the unfair position of having to object to testimony that should never have been offered. Id. at 271 ¶¶ 27-28. That situation did not occur in the present case. The prosecutor had warned a non-professional witness about the court's ruling, but the witness mistakenly mentioned the subject anyway. 12/17 RP 367.

The defendant argues that "a violation of a pretrial order is a serious irregularity." PRV at 9, quoting <u>State v. Gamble</u>, 168 Wn.2d 161, 178 ¶ 32, 225 P.3d 973 (2010). In <u>Gamble</u>, a police officer testified that he obtained a photograph of the defendant from a prior "booking file." <u>Gamble</u>, 168 Wn.2d at 176 ¶ 27. This court nonetheless presumed that the jury followed the court's instruction to disregard that testimony. <u>Id.</u> at 178 ¶ 32. The case thus holds that a reference to a defendant's criminal history

does not necessarily require a mistrial. The trial court's exercise of discretion in the present case does not warrant review.

B. THERE IS NO BASIS FOR REVIEWING THE COURT OF APPEALS' HOLDING THAT THE FACTS OF THIS PARTICULAR CASE ALLOWED AN INFERENCE THAT A GUN LINKED TO THE DEFENDANT WAS USED IN THE CRIME.

The defendant next contends that the trial court improperly admitted evidence of the defendant's access to a gun. The relevant standard is undisputed. Evidence of weapons unrelated to the crime are inadmissible. The evidence is admissible, however, "if the jury could infer from the evidence that the weapon could have been used in the commission of the crime." State v. Luvene, 127 Wn.2d 690, 708, 903 P.2d 960 (1995). The Court of Appeals applied this standard. App. B at 12-14.

With regard to this issue, the petition for review contains some inaccurate statements. First, it asserts that "the prosecution conceded on appeal there was no evidence that Tiffany Best's gun was stolen by Mr.

Martinez or that it was used to shoot Mr. Burley." PRV at 12, citing Brief of Respondent at 25. The cited portion of the respondent's brief says, "the jury could infer from the circumstantial evidence that this gun was involved in the murder." The brief goes on to say that "even if the [gun] was not the murder weapon, the jury could infer that it was used in the robbery."

The petition for review also asserts that "[t]he .38 caliber bullet that struck [the victim] was not the type of bullet Ms. Beston's .380 caliber gun would have fired." PRV at 13. The petition does not support this claim with any citation to the record. The firearms expert testified to the contrary, that she could *not* conclude that the bullet was not fired from that gun. 1/20 RP 908.

A witness testified that immediately after the robbery, he saw the defendant with "a little gun," which was chrome or silver. 12/17 RP 415-16. The owner of the missing gun described it as a small, black gun that may

have had some silver on it. 12/19 RP 846. The evidence concerning the missing gun therefore corroborated this witness's testimony, by showing that the defendant had access to a gun similar to the one that the witness saw. This is sufficient to support admissibility of the weapon. The application of a well-established standard to these facts does not warrant review.

IV. CONCLUSION

The petition for review should be denied.

This Answer contains 1048 words (exclusive of title sheet, table of contents, table of authorities, certificate of service, and signature blocks).